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The Gild of Freemen of Shrewsbury 
Town in the county of Shropshire 
Date of formation, earliest reference: 901AD

Date of Charter(s): 1102, 1189, 1199

Estimated No of Freemen: 116




There is no evidence of Roman occupation in Shrewsbury; although they did reach Wroxeter (Viroconium) on the river Severn, about 5 miles to the south east in 47A.D. After the Roman Legions left 


Britain circa 408 AD, the Romanized Britons or Celts continued to inhabit this important Roman stone stronghold.

A century later, when the first Anglo-Saxon barbarian invaders stormed across Britain, pushing the Celtic races back towards the Welsh borders, it is believed these Britons, citizens of Wroxeter, escaped north west along the river Severn to some high ground which formed a natural defensive loop in the river. They named it “Pegwerm” and it became the capital of the British Kingdom of Powis, the unoccupied part of Saxon Shropshire.

All that is known of the Kings of Powis is that they suffered perpetual hostilities from the Saxons. In 606 Brochmael, Prince of Powis, had a palace on the site of old St.Chad’s Church.

In 779, King Offa of Mercia defeated the Welsh and permanently annexed all Shropshire to the land of the Angles or England. To secure this acquisition, he built his famous dyke from the river Dee to the Wye. The fair-haired Saxons occupied Pegwern and changed its name to Scrobbesbyrig, ‘a Bury with a fenced eminence, overgrown with shrubs’. This, by a long series of mutations, took its modern form ‘Shrewsbury’, the occupants having fled to the Welsh hills.

Following King Alfred’s efforts to stem the tide of Viking raids in the 9th century, his spirited daughter, Aethelflæd, Lady of Mercia, began building a string of fortified burhs northwards from Gloucester to Chester, each one providing a safe refuge for people living within a 30 mile radius to withdraw to when threatened by a Viking raid. A burh was required between Worcester and Chester, sometime after 899, but before 902. That burh had to be Shrewsbury and must have been completed by 901 when the Mercian Council met in Shrewsbury. An older charter witnessed by the Council and Aethelflæd “in civitate Scrobbensis”, translated - “in the city of Shrob”.

A Burh , or Borough, was originally a fortified settlement; later with urban connections. The occupants, the Burgesses, would be responsible for its upkeep and were expected to defend the borough against attack. Between 924 and 940  Shrewsbury became a borough of some standing with its own mint. Saxon Kings were regular visitors. When the King resided in the town, 12 of its principal Burgesses and Thanes kept watch over him. When hunting or departing the town, those with horses would provide his escort.

The Domesday records show there were 252 houses during the reign of Edward the Confessor, with a Burgess residing in each one and paying a combined rent to the Saxon King of £7. 17s. 8d plus any outstanding fines. The definition of a Burgess is a holder or tenant of a Burgage plot; often long and narrow, fronting onto a street or market square, paying landgable or hawgable, a sort of ground rent or tax to the King or the local demesne Lord. Unlike serfs, borders and villeins, the Burgeses were free to buy and sell their properties or bequeath them to their heirs. Sons who sat at their father’s table inherited both their father's freedom and responsibilities. Men born within the town or completing a seven year apprenticeship to a Gild, were also eligible. Burgess freedom could be acquired by redemption, or the borough could grant it as a gift. However, until an Act of 1772, it was quite difficult to obtain, except for patrimony. The council was very discerning.

After the Norman invasion, Shrewsbury came under the control of several Norman Earls. Roger de Montgomery was the first Earl of Shrewsbury. When Hugh de Montgomery, who succeeded his father in 1094, was killed at Anglesey in 1098, his brother Robert de Belèsme became the third and last feudal Earl of Shrewsbury. In 1102, after plotting against King Henry I, this troublesome vassal was banished by Henry to Normandy. The Earldom was vested in the Crown and Shrewsbury reverted to the King, who also granted Shrewsbury its first known Royal Charter. This granted all free customs, liberties, wood, plains, meadows, pastures, all pleas, and quittances to the Burgesses. The town was then governed on the Kings behalf  by a succession of Viceroys and Provosts.

Even more privileges were granted under Henry II. In 1170 the Burgesses made an effort to escape their tax liability to a rapacious Sheriff by paying the King direct. This was achieved in 1185; now they could collect (or farm) their own tax and pay a lump sum to the King, the Firma Burgi.
The first charter still extant was granted by Richard I in 1189. It confirms that the town of Shrewsbury should continue to be held by the Burgesses for forty marks of silver annual rent. On April 13th 1199, King John confirmed the charters of Henry I and Henry II. A week later, on April 20th, he authorised the 

Burgesses to form their own Common Council to govern the town, and to elect two loyal and discreet Burgesses who were to keep the office of Provost (or Reeve) of the town, and not be removed as long as they behave themselves. Also four of the most respectable Burgesses were to be elected to keep the pleas of the crown-magistrates. They were also to take care that the new Provosts treated both rich and poor in a lawful manner. Henceforth, from the 20th April 1199, Shrewsbury would be a self governing Royal Borough through its own free Burgesses.

These founding Burgesses would probably have held their public meetings in an open court or churchyard around the St Alkmund’s area. Later the ‘Burgmote’ (Council meetings) would have been held in a Bote or Booth-hall, later named the Town Hall; while the separate Gild Merchants and Gildsmen would meet in Morghespeche (‘Morningspeech’) to transact their mercantile business in their own Gild Hall.

The earliest reference to a Gild merchant in Shrewsbury is in 1128 in the reign of Henry I. However, in 1209, King John also granted the Burgesses the right to have a Gild Merchant. Traders from outside Shrewsbury and women were also allowed to be members of this gild, but were listed on separate rolls.

Shrewsbury suffered immense hardship during Henry III’s wars with the Welsh. Consequently, in 1265, he gave the borough numerous privileges, including a further grant of a Gild Merchant and hanse, but compelling everyone who carried on business within the town to belong to this Gild, although it was a voluntary organisation. Another clause gave any serf, who managed to remain in the borough for a year and a day, the right to his freedom and his lord could no longer reclaim him. Shrewsbury Burgesses and their heirs henceforth would be free of all toll, lastage, passage, pontage, stallage, lene, danegelds, gaywite, and all customs and extractions, in England and all the Kings territories, saving the liberty of the city of London. During the 14th and 15th centuries, many tradesmen and craftsmen left the Merchant Gild and formed themselves into specific (Trade) Gild companies, albeit supported by the diminishing Gild merchant. At least 14 Trade Gilds were granted Royal Charters by the end of the 15th century.

These Free Trade Gilds or companies became the life-blood of the borough during the next 400 years. Their Freemen originally paraded through the town together to join the celebrations of the festival of Corpus Christi, led by the ecclesiastic assembly. There followed the Bailiffs and the Borough Corporation, then the Trade Gilds each in their allotted place of seniority, wearing their robes in their company colours and preceeded by their Wardens (Only the Drapers had a Master). The procession moved two miles out to Weeping Cross. Here all joined in bewailing their sins; they then returned to St. 

Chad’s Church for High Mass. Then followed the feasting and merry making in the town. The day of the original festival was the Thursday after Whit Sunday. When the old Romish ceremony was succeeded in later years by the Shrewsbury Show, the date was changed to the Monday (the Coventry Show was on the Friday and many people liked to visit both ). Later, on show days, the feasting took place on the common pasture lands. and each gild had its own arbour and facilities on the Kingsland. This festival was the forerunner of today’s Shrewsbury Flower Show.

The Burgesses have held rights of common over the lands “Behind the Walls” (The Quarry) and Kingsland beyond the river, since time immemorial; this was affirmed by Henry I in 1102. These lands were enclosed by the Burgess Council in 1611 for the agisting of cattle by all the town Burgesses and their widows, always providing they had paid their Scot and Lot and kept their turn of watch on the town walls. Each Burgess was allowed to pasture one cow, in turn, on a rota system. During the 18th century, part of the quarry was developed into a park, so all the town Burgesses were paid rent in lieu of their turn of pasturage. These became known as the Burgess ‘Turns payments’. In 1859, 24 years after the reform act, these payments were lapsed; however, in 1869 an investigation by a sub-committee of the new Corporation found that these were still legitimate payments and should not have been discontinued. Due to the early deaths of some of the key Councillors at that time, this matter has never been satisfactorily resolved. In 1962 a compromise was reached whereby the present Corporation would pay this rent into an annual competition prize fund for the school children in Shrewsbury. This has now proved rather unsatisfactory, so the Burgesses Turns Payments are now under review.

The exclusive authority of the trade guilds to control all trade and business within the  borough were repealed by the 1835 Reform Act, although the Shrewsbury guilds had been in decline for some years. Now that trade was open to all without restriction, they decided to dissolve the remaining Guilds. Some companies passed their property and records over to the Corporation, while others just disappeared. The Drapers Hall is still extant and has recently been renovated as a social and dining club. The right of apprenticeship to a Freeman Master continued until the Reform Act of 1918.

Although the Burgesses lost their exclusive control of the borough council, they did retain some hereditary rights. The 1835 Reform Act decreed that all who held property were to be listed in future as rate paying Burgesses on the electoral roll, and sworn ‘Hereditary Burgesses’ are in future to be known as  freemen of the borough. Therefore, hereditary Burgesses, (Freemen) continue to the present day. Any male over 21 who can research and prove his direct 

descent from a hereditary Burgess of Shrewsbury, no matter how far back, can claim the right, in law, to be sworn a ‘Free Burgess’ of this borough. In 1998 there were approximately 150 sworn freemen in Shrewsbury.

The Gild of Freemen (formerly the Association of Shrewsbury Freemen) was formed in 1901 and currently has around 100 members.

It is interesting to reflect that Shrewsbury will have been a borough in 2001 for eleven hundred years. The Burgesses, free or otherwise, were the principal inhabitants throughout most of this period; with onerous duties and responsibilities , as well as some privileges.

from “The Freemen of Shrewsbury”. Also from Alan Fallows, FEW Warden – Marches (letter 13th July 1998.) Corrected and approved by Alan Fallows (memo 8th Sept 1998).
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